THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Administrative Law Court
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000422

Clifford Pasley, Claimant/Appellant,

v.

TransAgri, Inc./Leonard Enterprises, Employer,

And

South Carolina Uninsured Employer's Fund, Insurer,
Respondents.

RECEIVED
APR 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

**FINAL BRIEF
OF APPELLANT**

Frank A. Barton
Attorney at Law, P.A.
Post Office Box 3972
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
803-739-1824 / fax 803-739-1888
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower tribunals err in concluding Appellant's worker compensation injuries had resolved by January 1, 2004?
2. Did the lower tribunals err in concluding Appellant was not entitled to additional medical treatment after January 1, 2004?
3. Did the lower tribunals err in concluding Appellant's condition after January 1, 2004, was related solely to a military injury?
4. Did the lower tribunals err in concluding Appellant was not entitled to additional disability benefits?

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Claimant-Appellant Clifford Pasley suffered an on the job injury on January 17, 2002, while tying down a load of steel on an eighteen wheel truck. He immediately sought medical treatment and worker's compensation benefits for the injury, but treatment was denied as there was no worker's compensation insurance coverage in effect. Proceedings on this claim were delayed because no worker's compensation insurance and the Employer denied it was subject to the Worker's Compensation Act in South Carolina. Defense of the claim was subsequently assumed by the South Carolina Uninsured Employer's Fund. By Form 50, dated October 27, 2011, Mr. Pasley sought medical and disability benefits. By Form 51, dated November 7, 2011, the claim was denied.

After hearing on June 27, 2012, the Hearing Commissioner determined the accident was compensable based upon stipulation; that the Claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits for the time he was out of work immediately after the accident; and that Claimant was entitled to be reimbursed for related medical expenses incurred prior to January 1, 2004. The Commissioner further held Claimant was not entitled to any benefits for permanent disability, loss of use, or any additional medical treatment.

Claimant appealed to the Full Commission by Form 30 dated January 17, 2013. The Full Commission heard Claimant's appeal on January 15, 2013. The Appellate Panel issued its Decision on December 3, 2013, affirming the Order of the Hearing Commissioner with the modification the average weekly wage of the Claimant was

changed to \$781.25.

Because of the accident date of January 17, 2002, this claim was governed by the appeals process requiring an appeal to be heard by the Circuit Court. The Claimant appealed by Notice of Appeal dated December 31, 2013. The Circuit Court initially heard the appeal on November 13, 2014, and fully affirmed the decision of the Commission by order issued on December 17, 2014. By Order issued on January 14, 2016, the Circuit Court denied Appellant's Motion for New Hearing and Amendment of Order, again fully affirming the Worker's Compensation Commission.

Notice of the final Order of the Circuit Court was received by counsel for Appellant on January 27, 2016. Notice of Appeal was served on February 25, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 17, 2002, the Claimant–Appellant Clifford Pasley injured his lower back while tying down a load of steel on an eighteen wheel truck. He reported the accident to his Employer and requested medical treatment. Medical treatment was denied, however, as the Employer did not have worker's compensation insurance coverage. Mr. Pasley was forced to seek medical treatment at his own expense and was seen by Dr. Steven Suits, at Lexington Medical Center Irmo six days later. The report of Dr. Suits assessed on January 23, 2002, Claimant had suffered a lumbosacral herniated disc, with pain radiating into his right leg, and right foot drop. Dr. Suits further noted “He has not had pain like this before, though he has had back pain in the past more superior to where

this is located.” (APA p. 66).

Although Mr. Pasley was unable to obtain permission or payment from the Employer, on March 25, 2002, Mr. Pasley obtained a MRI at his own expense at the Lexington Medical Center. The MRI did show a disc bulge/protrusion at the L5-S1 level. (R., p. 199).

On April 15, 2002, Dr. Brett Gunter noted that Claimant complained of a right-sided foot drop that had presented after an accident at work in January 2002. Dr. Gunter reported, Mr. Clifford Pasley is a 40 year old right-handed male who presents with a right-sided foot drop that presented after an on-the-job injury in January 2002. The foot drop lasted a month or month and a half. He then developed severe right hip and leg pain. He said his strength has continued to improve, but he still walks with a limp. He also has some consistent persistent pain. Dr. Gunter noted his opinion that Claimant had a foot drop along with L5 nerve root compression from what appeared to be spondylolisthesis at L5-S1. (R., p. 193).

Mr. Pasley was unable to return to work, but continued to seek medical treatment at his own expense to the extent he could afford it with Dr. Green B. Neal. He was also treated at the Veterans Administration Hospital. In May 2006, Dr. Neal reported Mr. Pasley was in need of additional medical treatment but opined if an impairment rating had to be assigned at that time, Mr. Pasley had suffered a fifty-five percent (55%) impairment rating to his lumbar spine, a three percent (3%) impairment to his thoracic spine, and a fifteen percent (15%) impairment to his right leg as a result of the on-the-job accident of January 17, 2002. Dr. Neal recommended an EMG and nerve conduction

study. (R., p. 154). He had also previously determined in September 2005, Mr. Paisley had suffered a twenty percent (20%) impairment to the cardiovascular system as a result of hypertension caused by chronic pain from the accident. (R., p. 158).

Mr. Paisley was seen by Dr. Don Johnson, an orthopedic surgeon, in June 2010. Dr. Johnson noted the symptoms suffered by Mr. Pasley on June 22, 2010, were consistent with the complaints noted by Dr. Neal over the years. Dr. Johnson agreed with Dr. Neal's recommendations for treatment including an EMG and nerve conduction study. Dr. Johnson stated Mr. Pasley was not at maximum medical improvement, suggested spinal injections would probably be helpful after obtaining the EMG and nerve conduction studies, and surgical intervention might be required. (R., p. 167-168).

By his Form 50, Claimant sought a Commission Order of medical treatment; benefits for temporary total and partial disability, benefits for permanent and total disability, permanent partial disability, and/or loss of use to his back and legs. A hearing before the Hearing Commissioner was held on June 27, 2012, with a resulting decision being issued on January 4, 2013. With some modification, that decision was affirmed by Decision of the Appellate Panel of the Commission, issued December 3, 2013. The Commission determined Mr. Pasley suffered a compensable accident; Claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits from January 17, 2002, through February 18, 2003; and Claimant was entitled to reimbursement for out-of-pocket medical expenses incurred from January 17, 2002, through December 31, 2003.

The Commission determined Mr. Pasley was not entitled to any additional medical benefits after December 2003, and found Claimant did not suffer any permanent injury,

disability, or loss of use as a result of his employment related accident. Significantly, the Commission determined any injuries from which Mr. Pasley continued to suffer after December 31, 2003, were solely related to a prior “alleged injury” suffered by Mr. Pasley during his military service in 1982. The Decision of the Appellate Panel was fully affirmed by the Circuit Court.

The uncontested medical records submitted to the Commission conclusively showed Mr. Paisley suffered immediate onset of pain at the time of his accident on January 17, 2002. The medical records also documented a disc herniation/bulge/protrusion at the L5-S1 level, with continuous pain in the back and right leg suffered by Mr. Pasley from the time of the accident through the time of the Single Commissioner hearing on June 27, 2012. Despite the uncontroverted medical evidence, the Commission concluded Mr. Pasley’s current physical problems were the result of an “injury” suffered in 1982.

At the hearing before the Single Commissioner, Mr. Pasley testified he served in the Army for approximately seven years, serving in Operation Desert Storm, and leaving with an honorable discharge in 1983. Claimant testified, “In, I guess, ’82, I went to sick call maybe twice for a sore back. It was nothing major. I guess just, you know, march and carrying those rucksacks. But I was able to go through my military career without any problems.” (R., p. 378, lines 11 – 15). He went on to testify he started driving trucks in 1984 or 1985 and never had any problems with his back prior to his on the job accident of January 17, 2002. (R., p. 378, line 23 – p. 379, line 6.)

Based on evidence Mr. Pasley went to sick call twice in 1982 the Commission determined the problems he was suffering in 2012 were solely a result of an injury he

suffered in the Army back in 1982. The Commission made this determination despite the fact there was no medical evidence or testimony of any injury which occurred in 1982. Furthermore, the Commission completely ignored uncontested evidence Mr. Pasley began work as a truck driver in 1984 or 1985 and did not suffer from back or leg problems prior to the on the job accident of January 17, 2002.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of a decision of the workers’ compensation commission.” Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1982); Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, (Ct. App. 2005) cert. dismissed as improvidently granted Aug. 2007; Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 288, 599 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2004). Pursuant to the APA, an appellate Court’s review is limited to deciding whether the Appellate Panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. Grant v. Grant Textiles, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

The judicial review of the Appellate Panel’s factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006); Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 527, 593 S.E.2d 491, 494 (Ct. App. 2004); Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 617, 571 S.E.2d 92, 94-95 (Ct. App. 2002); Lockridge v. Santens of America, Inc., 344 S.C. 511, 515, 544 S.E.2d

842, 844 (Ct. App. 2001). The Appellate Panel's decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. Shuler v. Gregory Elec., 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 366 S.C. 154, 160, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999)). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5)(d)(e)(Supp. 2006), see also, Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 77, 636 S.E.2d 876, 881, (Ct. App. 2006). However, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions of them are "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A)(5)(e)(Supp. 2006); Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 457, 622 S.E.2d 577, 580 (Ct. App. 2005); Burse v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 360 S.C. 135, 141, 600 S.E.2d 80, 84 (Ct. App. 2004) *aff'd*, 369 S.C. 176, 631 S.E.2d 899 (2006).

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER TRIBUNALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THE APPELLANT'S INJURIES HAD FULLY RESOLVED BY JANUARY 1, 2004, AND THEREFORE HE WAS NOT ENTITLED TO FURTHER MEDICAL OR DISABILITY BENEFITS. (ISSUES 1, 2, 3, AND 4)

The Workers' Compensation Commission, affirmed by the Circuit Court, concluded Mr. Pasley was not entitled to receive medical benefits after January 1, 2004. The Commission concluded Appellant's injuries from his on the job accident had fully

resolved by that date. The Commission determined any remaining medical problems suffered by Appellant were a result of an "injury" suffered during his military service in 1982. Using this reasoning, the Commission further concluded Appellant was not entitled to any additional disability benefits. For the following reasons, it is respectfully submitted the Commission erred in reaching these conclusions.

The medical records of Dr. Neal, Dr. Johnson, Dr. Gunter, and Dr. Suits detailed the injuries Mr. Pasley suffered as a result of his accident of January 17, 2002. Those medical records also documented the continued medical treatment received by Claimant and the recommendations for future treatment. At no point do the medical records submitted into evidence indicate Mr. Pasley had fully recovered from his accident or that no future medical treatment was needed.

Although Claimant did testify while in the Army in 1982 he went to sick call twice for a sore back, there was no testimony of any accident and Mr. Pasley thought the pains were related to carrying a rucksack. He further testified he had no further problems with his back during the completion of his military service and had no problems with his back while working as a truck driver from approximately 1985 until the time of his accident in January 2002. The only reasonable conclusion from the submitted medical evidence and testimony of Claimant is he injured his back and leg as a result of the on-the-job injury of January 2002, and those injuries continued to plague him through the time of the hearing before the Single Commissioner. The medical reports further evidenced his need for and the recommendation for additional medical treatment, including the possibility of future surgery.

In ruling Claimant was not entitled to any additional medical treatment or disability benefits, the Commission concluded the evidence of record showed his current back and leg condition were the result of his two 1982 visits to military sick call. Such a conclusion relies on testimony of the Claimant which simply states he went to sick call on the two occasions for back pain. That conclusion also completely ignores the further testimony of Claimant the back problems did not persist or interfere with the completion of his military duties until he was honorably discharged in 1983. The conclusion by the Commission further ignores the testimony of record showing Mr. Pasley worked as a truck driver from 1984 or 1985 until the accident in January 2002, without suffering from back or leg problems. It is respectfully submitted the conclusions of the Commission are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the record as a whole and should be reversed.

The Commission ruled Mr. Pasley did sustain an injury as a result of his on the job accident. The medical reports submitted as evidence prove he suffered injuries to his back, leg, and cardiovascular system as a result of that accident. The records further show he continued to suffer from the injuries from the date of the accident until the time of the hearing before the Single Commissioner and required additional medical treatment. It is respectfully submitted the evidence of record is compelling to show Mr. Pasley suffered a new injury as a result of his on the job accident of January 17, 2002, and is entitled to medical benefits and treatment pursuant to SC Code Section 42 – 15 – 60. Furthermore the evidence showed he had not reached maximum medical improvement at the time of the Single Commissioner Hearing. For that reason a finding in regard to disability

benefits pursuant to SC Code Sections 42-9-10, 42-9-20, or 42-9-30 was premature. In the event Claimant was at maximum medical improvement, however, the submitted medical records showed Mr. Pasley had suffered permanent injuries and loss of use to his back, right leg, and cardiovascular system. The permanent injuries were detailed in the reports of Dr. Neal. (R., p. 154, 158).

In the event the evidence of record is viewed as indicating Claimant was suffering from a prior military injury at the time of his on the job accident of January 17, 2002, the only conclusion to be drawn is the workers compensation accident clearly aggravated a pre-existing condition. Thus, Mr. Pasley's injuries and medical treatment would still be compensable. SC Code Section 42-9-400(a),(2003); Ellison v. Frigidaire Home Products, 371 S.C. 159, 638 S.E.2d 664 (2006).

Although there is scant evidence as to the nature of any pre-existing injury from Claimant's military service, if it was determined he did have a pre-existing condition the current case is a text book example of a compensable aggravation of a worker's pre-existing, but not previously disabling condition. The undisputed evidence shows after he was released from the military, Mr. Pasley worked as a truck driver from 1984 through the time of the accident in 2002, of approximately 18 years without experiencing back problems. It is undisputed he experienced back and leg pains as an immediate result of his workers compensation accident and those pains continued through the time of his hearing.

Claimant's pre-existing military back condition (if existent) was certainly worsened and aggravated by the subsequent work injury. Therefore, he was entitled to

benefits for the resulting disability. Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 737 S.E.2d 200 (Ct.App. 2012). It is no defense that the accident, standing alone, would not have caused the claimant's condition, because the employer takes the employee as he finds him. Likewise, a showing that the accident resulted only in the exacerbation of existing problems does not preclude recovery. Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E.2d 526 (2001).

It is respectfully submitted the substantial evidence of record, including testimony of Claimant and the submitted medical records, when viewed as a whole requires a finding Mr. Pasley suffered a new injury to his back and leg as a result of his workers compensation accident of January 17, 2002. The substantial evidence of record also shows Mr. Pasley suffered from those injuries from the time of the on the job accident through the time of the hearing before the Single Commissioner. Even if the substantial evidence indicated Mr. Pasley had a preexisting condition at the time of his accident of January 17, 2002, the evidence shows he worked as a truck driver for many years without back or leg problems before his accident of January 17, 2002. Assuming he had a preexisting condition, the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn from the medical records and testimony of record is his accident of January 17, 2002, caused an aggravation of a preexisting condition, which was dormant, and Mr. Pasley would still be entitled to medical and disability benefits after January of 2004.

For all of the above reasons it is respectfully submitted the decision of the Commission should be reversed.