THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 12 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2016-000422

Clifford Pasley Claimant/Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an accident that occurred on January 17, 2002. A Form 50 was originally filed in 2002, however, the original attorney handling the case withdrew as counsel. Appellant was released from his doctor on February 18, 2003. A second Form 50 was filed on October 27, 2011. A Form 51 was filed by the South Carolina Uninsured Employer's Fund (UEF), denying the case and that the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission had jurisdiction over this matter. A Form 51 was also filed by Traveler's Insurance denying the case and that there was no coverage through Traveler's Insurance. A hearing on the merits was held on June 27, 2012. There is nothing in the record to explain why there was such a lengthy delay in between the date of injury and the hearing on the merits. (R. pp. 351-418)

As a result of the hearing in front of the Single Commissioner, Appellant was found to have sustained a temporary injury to his back with no resulting permanent injury. Leonard Enterprises and Trans Agri were found to be subject to the Act by regularly employing four or more employees. (R. p. 90).

A Form 30 was filed by the Appellant on January 17, 2013 alleging that the Single Commissioner erred in the determination of the Appellant's average weekly wage, erred in failing to find that the Appellant sustained permanent disability to his back and legs, whether the Single Commissioner erred in finding that the Appellant was not entitled to medical treatment or care after January 1, 2004. The UEF also filed a Form 30 alleging that the Single Commissioner erred in finding that the Leonard Enterprises and Trans Agri were subject to the Act, whether the Single Commissioner erred in finding that the Appellant did not work between January 17, 2002 and December 31, 2003. A hearing was held before the Full Commission on July 15, 2013. The Full Commissioner reversed the findings regarding the Appellant's average weekly

wage but otherwise affirmed the order of the Single Commissioner. Appellant then appealed to circuit court. On December 17, 2014, the circuit court found that there was substantial evidence to support the findings of the Commission. Appellant then filed a Motion for a New Hearing or an Amendment of the Order. On January 14, 2016, the circuit court issued an order denying the Appellant's Motion for New Hearing and Amendment of Order. Appellant then appealed to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant alleges an injury to his back that occurred in the course and scope of his employment on January 17, 2002. In a recorded statement taken by Travelers Insurance, Appellant denied any prior back problems. Appellant first went to a doctor on January 23, 2002 with back pain. It was noted that he has had back pain in the past. It was also noted he "does some working out, does not know if he aggravated it with that." (R. p. 199). A MRI was done on March 25, 2002 that showed grade 1 L5-S1 spondylolisthesis associated with degenerative disc disease. (R. p. 196). On April 15, 2002, it was noted that the Appellant was making significant improvement without any specific therapy. (R. p. 194). A second MRI of the lumbar spine was done on August 31, 2011 that showed Grade 1 anterolisthesis of L5 with respect to S1 and advanced degenerative disk disease. (R. p. 174). Appellant admitted that there were no changes between the 2002 MRI and the 2007 MRI. (R. p. 398). Appellant only takes ibuprofen for his back pain. (R. p. 395).

The first note from Dr. Neal in the record is dated August 28, 2002 although it is noted as a follow up visit. Appellant was released from Dr. Neal's care on February 18, 2003. (R. p. 159). On October 5, 2005, Dr. Neal noted that Appellant had pain in his low back that was likely due to degenerative arthritis. (R. p. 157).

Since January 17, 2002, Appellant has held at least 4 different truck driving jobs. (R. p. 376). Appellant returned to work in 2004 earning substantially more in 2004 than he did in 2001 and has continued to work since then. After this accident, Appellant continued to work as a truck driver for several years. (R. pp. 392-394). Appellant stopped working as a truck driver, when his employer sold the truck he was driving. (R. pp. 394-395). Since this accident, Appellant at times has been out of work and has drawn unemployment. Appellant admitted that he certified to the Employment Security Commission that he was willing and able to work. (R. p. 397). At the time of the hearing Appellant was working at the VA full time in housekeeping. (R. p. 377).

Appellant admitted that he previously injured his back, while serving in the military in Operation Desert Storm. (R. p. 378). Appellant testified that he went to sick hall a couple of times for a sore back. (R. p. 378). In 2009, Appellant was assigned a thirty (30%) percent disability from the VA to his back, for military service that preceded the January 17, 2002 injury. (R. p. 400). Appellant admitted that he received a disability from the military due to a record of back problems while in the military. (R. p. 400).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, this court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-

380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2011); Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010).

The Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases. Shealy v. Aiken Cnty., 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). As a general rule, this court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence. Pierre, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618. "Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission reached." Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 436, 645 S.E.2d 424, 431 (2007). "The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Id.*

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS AS THE FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

1. The circuit court was correct in affirming the findings that the Appellant was not entitled to any further medical or disability benefits after January 1, 2004.

There is clearly substantial evidence to support the Commission's findings that Appellant is not entitled to additional medical treatment after January 1, 2004. Appellant was released from care on February 18, 2003. (R. p. 159). Appellant did not receive any additional treatment in 2003 for this back and there are no records of treatment for his back in 2004. However, the record and testimony of the Appellant shows that he had returned to work as truck driver during this time period: On October 5, 2005, Dr.

Neal noted that Appellant had pain in his low back that was likely due to degenerative arthritis. (R. p. 157). In other words, the Appellant's medical provider is clearly now stating that any problems from the back are stemming from degenerative arthritis not from the January 17, 2002 injury. Furthermore, it is also important to note that no medical records from 2006 or 2007 were produced by the Appellant. The only note in the record that is from the VA is dated September 14, 2008 and this note is unclear as to the reason for the treatment. (R. p. 176). No medical records from 2009 were produced. In 2010, Appellant was sent by his then attorney for an IME at Southeastern Spine Institute. By this time, 8 years have passed since the date of accident, Appellant has admittedly worked several different jobs and requalified for his commercial driver's license since the date of accident. Therefore, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the finding that after January 1, 2004, any treatment Appellant received for his back was related to other conditions.

As discussed at length in the order of the Single Commissioner, there is documentation supporting the finding that the Claimant did not suffer any permanent impairment and only had a temporary injury. The order states that:

Mr. Pasley admitted that he recalled giving a recorded statement, but did not recall saying that he had never injured his back previously. (R. p. 390) He admitted, at the hearing, that he actually been to sick bay in the military for his back and was receiving thirty (30%) percent disability from the military for his back, which included some of the pain from this injury. (R. p. 391) In fact, he testified that he believed that his disability was paying for some of the injury in this case. (R. p. 391) Further, the Claimant admitted that he continued to work after his accident in this case from 2003 to 2010, or for approximately seven (7) years, and that he has made as much as \$27,000 in 2004, driving as a truck driver. (R. p. 393) He also admitted that Dr. Neal released him to work by January 2003. The Claimant testified that he is aware that he has the condition of spondylolisthesis and degenerative disk disease, and that his MRI in 2007 was essentially the same as the one in 2002. (R. p. 398)

The issue is not whether there is substantial evidence to support the Appellant's position but whether there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's order and circuit court affirmation and there is clearly substantial evidence to support the findings of the Commission and circuit court affirmation. Appellant admitted he receives 30% disability to his back from the military. Appellant's own testimony is that the rating from the military also includes his workers' compensation injury. Ten years had passed between the date of accident and by the time of the hearing by the Single Commissioner. In those ten years, Appellant had years of no treatment for his back, has held at least 4 jobs as a truck driver. At the time of the hearing, he was working at the VA doing physical work. Furthermore, the initial note of treatment from back on January 23, 2002 references that Appellant may have also hurt his back while working out. (R. p 199).

2. Claimant did not suffer a permanent impairment related to the accident of January 17, 2002.

In the Appellant's brief, he alleges that his military back condition was aggravated by this accident. Appellant references South Carolina Code Section 42-9-400(a) and Ellison v. Frigidaire Home Products, 371 S.C. 159, 638 S.E.2d 664 (2006). Section 42-9-400, is the code section pertaining to reimbursement for the Second Injury Fund. Section 42-9-400 states that "[i]f an employee who has permanent physical impairment from any cause or origin incurs a subsequent disability from injury by accident that is substantially greater and is caused by aggravation of the pre existing impairment than that which would have resulted from the subsequent injury alone, the employer or his insurance carrier shall pay all awards of compensation and medical benefits..." However, § 42-9-400 does not require the Commission to find a permanent aggravation.

Although, Appellant's argument is that under § 42-9-400, his injuries should be found compensable. (Appellant's brief, p. 11) Compensability isn't an issue. The Commission found the injury to the back compensable but just didn't find a permanent impairment. Arguably, the Ellison case would not apply to the case at bar as it was decided well after the date of accident.

At the hearing in front of the Single Commissioner, Appellant did not argue that the Appellant suffered an aggravation. (R. pp. 356-7;124-132). Therefore, any argument that the Appellant suffered an aggravation of a prior injury has been waived as it was raised at the initial hearing. Appellant cannot suddenly raise an issue for the first time on appeal. Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. Pshp., 334 S.C. 96, 512 S.E.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1998).

Appellant seems to be arguing in his brief that it was premature for the Commission to issue a ruling on whether Appellant suffered a permanent impairment. Appellant asked the Single Commissioner to make an award on permanency. (R. p. 357). Appellant then states in his brief that he had permanent injuries to his back, right leg and cardiovascular system. (Appellant's brief, p. 11). Appellant's cardiovascular system was never plead on his Forms 50 & 58. Appellant is inconsistent in his brief as to what relief he is requesting and what appellant issues he is raising.

There is substantial evidence to support the findings that the Appellant did not suffer a permanent impairment. On October 5, 2005, Dr. Neal noted that Appellant had pain in his low back that was likely due to degenerative arthritis. (R. p. 157). Appellant was released from Dr. Neal in January of 2003. There are no medical records in evidence from between January of 2003 and September 2005. There are no medical

records from 2006, 2007, or 2009 in the record. The record from the VA assigning the Appellant his 30% disability to his back is not in the record. Appellant had the burden of proving his case and failed to produce any records to show an aggravation. However, there is substantial evidence in the record to show that Appellant did not suffer a permanent impairment.

It appears one of the issues on appeal, is not whether the Commission's Order was supported by the greater weight of and the substantial evidence in the record, but rather whether there was some evidence supporting the claims made by Appellant and therefore findings should be made in the Appellant's favor. Again, the Appellant would lead the Court to believe the Commission was in essence required to assign greater weight to the opinion evidence of Appellant's doctors who didn't work for the Veteran's Administration. Further, the Appellant worked fairly regularly after the 2002 accident, which coupled with the pre-existing condition and a review of the Veteran Administration's file, makes it more likely the accident was only a temporarily aggravation.

Appellant's brief is replete with references that the Commission's failure to find in his favor is contrary to the purpose of the Act. It is a well settled rule of law that the burden of proof is upon the Claimant to prove such facts as will render an injury compensable under the provisions of the Worker's Compensation Act, and that no award may be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation. Cf. Walker v. City Motor Car, 232 S.C. 392, 102 S.E. 2d 373 (1958); Packer v. Corbett Canning Co., 238 S.C. 431, 120 S.E. 2d 398; Gosnell v. Bryant, 240 S.C. 215, 125 S.E. 2d 405 (1962). Further, it has been held that the difficulty in proving a fact in a worker's compensation case

does not relieve a party on whom the burden rests of proving it nor does it shift the burden to the other party. Cf. Herndon v. Morgan Mills, Inc., 246 S.C. 201, 143 S.E. 2d 376 (1965). The same requirement to establish compensability logically extends to a Claimant's burden of establishing a greater weight of the competent evidence in the record establishes the Claimant sustained a degree of permanency. Simply put, the Hearing Commissioner in exercising his discretion reviewed the evidence in the record as a whole and appropriately determined that the Appellant did not sustain a permanent impairment. Taken further, it is well established that a Commissioner has discretion under Section 42-15-60 to award what is decided to be causally related medical care and the Commission was correct in not awarding future medical benefits. The Commission did order reimbursement for out of pocket expenses from January 17, 2002 until December 31, 2003.

Other evidence controverting Appellant's claim that the Commission could only reach one conclusion, is exemplified by the testimony of the Appellant at the hearing. Appellant admitted he gave a recorded statement two weeks after the January 17, 2002 accident and denied any prior injuries to his back (R. p. 390). Appellant admitted under cross-examination that he did in fact go to the sick bay for back issues during his military tenure and that at the time of the hearing he was receiving 30% disability from the military due to his back condition. Appellant was also forced to admit at the hearing that he continued working for about seven years after the 2002 accident and that the only medication he was taking was Ibuprofen. Also during this seven-year period, the Claimant admitted at the hearing that he did file for unemployment at various times certifying that he was willing and able to work. (R. p. 397). Finally, Appellant admitted he

continued to pass his CDL physicals since the 2002 accident and that he has not been housebound or unable to drive since 2002.

Furthermore, there is no reference by the Single Commissioner in the hearing transcript or in the Decision and Order that he solely relied on the Appellant's receipt of V.A. disability benefits as the reason he denied the Appellant's requests for disability compensation and medical care. In fact, Finding of Fact #9 states that there is no definitive medical evidence in the case causally connecting the Claimant's continuing back issues to the January 17, 2002 accident. It is well within the Commission's discretion to consider all evidence, and determine the appropriate weight to give particular testimony or evidence.